THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001603
Case No. 2019-CP-40-01615

RECEIVED

Aug 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

T.D., by and through his guardians, A.D. and J.D.,

Appellants,

v.

Richland County School District Two,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

D. Michael Mathison
Richland County Public Defender's
Office
1701 Main St., Suite 103
Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Ph: (803) 766-5170
Fax: (803) 766-5180
Mathison.Michael@richlandcountysc.gov
Attorney for Appellants

August 14, 2020

Introduction

This case is about fundamental fairness. This is an appeal of a school district's decision to expel a student who was charged by law enforcement with allegedly making threats over social media.¹ Students facing expulsion are guaranteed basic constitutional and statutory rights.

This case also involves two novel questions of law. This Court is free to determine novel questions of law with no particular deference to the lower court. State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 665 S.E.2d 645, 648-649 (Ct. App. 2008). Appellants ask this court to interpret and apply the state's expulsion procedures statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 59-63-240), in which the General Assembly expressly provided that parents "shall have the right to legal counsel and to all other regular legal rights including the right to question all witnesses." Do students and parents have the right to question all witnesses as guaranteed by the General Assembly?

Appellants also ask this court to interpret and apply statutes related to the confidentiality of juvenile records at S.C. Code Ann. §§ 63-19-810(C), 63-19-2020(E) and 63-19-2030(E). The statutes require school districts to have policies restricting how school principals may access and use juvenile law enforcement records. The policies must limit access and use to supervision, monitoring and serving the educational needs of the child. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 63-19-810(C) and 63-19-2020(E). Are school authorities permitted to conduct recorded cross-examinations of children using piecemeal information gleaned from confidential juvenile law enforcement records without providing the records to the student?

¹ At the time of the initial expulsion hearing, December 12, 2018, Student and Family were not aware of any pending criminal charges. [R. p. 194; Hearing Audio 2, 5:31-6:31; R. pp. 222, line 17 - p. 226, line 24]. All criminal charges against the student were dismissed by the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's Office on August 7, 2019.

These questions are of great importance as the nexus between schools and the criminal justice system, known as the “School to Prison Pipeline,” has been at the forefront of public discourse nationally and locally.

Note on the Record: Throughout this brief, Appellants will refer to the Hearing Audio files from the evidentiary hearing before Hearing Officer, Lottie Chishom, on December 12, 2018. [R. p. 194; Hearing Audio 1 and 2, Exhibits 34 and Exhibits 35; R. pp. 212-262].

According to Respondent’s policy AR-JKE-R, the audio file of the hearing is the official record in an expulsion proceeding. [R. p. 492, “the established record . . . will consist of the tape of the hearing, including any documentary evidence presented by either party.”].

Appellants submit that the audio of the hearing is the most important and overlooked piece of evidence in this case.² Citations to the administrative record will include references to both the audio files and the transcripts, with the major and meaningful discrepancies noted.

Appellants pray that this Court will review the actual record instead of relying exclusively on the incomplete and inaccurate transcripts of the lower proceedings. Compare Audio Files R. p. 194; R. pp. 212-26; and R. pp. 31-32, 196-201 and 202-210.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a school expulsion by Richland County School District Two (“School District” or “Respondent”). T.D. (“Student”) was suspended from school and recommended for expulsion by Respondent after the Richland County Sheriff’s Investigators informed school administrators that T.D. was accused of sending a threatening message.

The message itself, was actually a picture of a phone screen showing a message on a blue background, which stated:

² After Respondent’s counsel declined to file the audio recordings with the Clerk of Court with its Answer and Return, its Certified Record or its Amended Certified Record, Appellants filed copies of the audio files with the Circuit Court on June 5, 2019. Letter of D. Michael Mathison and Disc, June 5, 2019. [R. pp. 118-119].

I want my shit on Monday or all I know is u and him is getting shot in school . . . I don't give a fuck. I want my shit Monday...my pistol is coming to school with me...and if I don't get my juul I'm shooting both of y'all and a ton of other people.

[R. p. 449; R. p. 419]. The picture does not show any name, screenname, username, phone number, cellular data or other identifying feature. *Id.*

Student attended a hearing on December 12, 2018, before district Hearing Officer, Lottie S. Chishom (“Chishom” or “Hearing Officer”). [Amended Certified Record (“A.R.”) R. p. 194; December 12, 2018, Hearing Audio 1 and 2³; R. pp. 212-262]. Before the hearing, the Student’s grandfather stated he was not sure why the expulsion was going forward because there were no charges or proof. [R. p. 194, Hearing Audio 2, 2:00-6:41 (Not transcribed by Respondent); R. p. 214 line 1-p. 227 line 17]. The Hearing Officer instructed the administrator to have a conference to disclose the information in the district’s possession. *Id.* The administrator did not disclose any of the documentary evidence. Instead, she told the family:

At this point, all I can say is, that because of the alleged threat that was made against the students and against the school we did go ahead and make the recommendation for expulsion based off what was shared with us in the incident report that we received. Based on that it would be up to Ms. Chishom to make her determination. Everything else will be up to the police department at this time as far as the paperwork.

A.D.: Did they send y'all a police report on that?

Mazyck: I have an incident report, but they would have to be the ones to give you all any additional information.

³ According to district policy AR-JKE-R, the audio recording of an expulsion hearing is the official record of the hearing. [R. p. 492] To ensure the audio files were actually available to the court, Appellants Counsel filed copies of the audio recordings with the Clerk of Court on June 5, 2019. [R. p. 118]. The Respondent’s counsel submitted the Amended Certified Record to Judge Manning with a Motion to Seal on July 15, 2019. [R. p. 120] A portion of the audio of the hearing on December 12, 2018, was not preserved for reasons that have never been explained. The Audio appears as two separate recordings. [R. pp. 217] Exhibit 34 is four minutes and fifty-five seconds long and ends abruptly while Appellant A.D. is speaking. Exhibit 35 begins with the end of Appellant J.D.’s objection to the proceedings: “... when he ain’t been found for nothing.” [R. pp. 217, lines 10-16].

[R. p. 225, line 9- p. 226, line 18; Hearing Audio 2, 7:41-7:30; (Not transcribed by Respondent)]. During the hearing, administrators read a disciplinary referral, a police incident report, and three student witness statements which were not previously disclosed to the Family and were not provided to the Family during the hearing. The administrators did not read any names of the witnesses, including adult witnesses, nor did they use any anonymous identifiers. The Student and Family denied student's guilt and testified that Student had sold his phone the day after Thanksgiving, a week before the investigation began. The Hearing Officer had additional evidence, including a screenshot of the message, which was not part of the administration's case. [R. p. 194; Hearing Audio 2, 29:26 to 30:30; R pp. 246, line 14 – p 248, line 18]. The Hearing Officer would not answer Student's questions about the image. Id. After the family continued to deny the charges, and Student's brother testified about how anybody could create a SnapChat account, the Hearing Officer decided to introduce her own evidence, which administrators had provided to the Hearing Officer but not the family. [R. p. 194; Hearing Audio 2, 29:00-42:00; R. pp. 209-211; R. pp. 247 line 14 – 257, line 23; R. p. 417]. The Hearing Officer cross-examined student using portions of an anonymously-authored investigation report, which purported to contain a confession from T.D. Id. She refused to answer the Family's questions about the report, telling them to "talk to the cops" about it. Id. Chishom expelled student by letter dated January 11, 2019. [R.p. 29].

A.D. and J.D., as guardians for their minor grandson, T.D. (collectively, "Appellants" or "Family"), appealed the decision to the Richland County School District Board of Trustees. On January 14, 2019, after the family retained counsel, the district produced the records they had received from law enforcement before the December 12, 2019, hearing. [R. p. 462]. The

district did not produce the student statements read at the December 12th hearing until February 1, 2019. [R. p. 86]. The documents revealed the following:

- The offending message discussed in the December 12, 2018, hearing did not have Student's name, screenname, account name or any other identifying information on it. [R. pp. 380, 419, 449]
- The district actually received dozens of confidential law enforcement records on December 4, 2018, including a total of thirteen screenshots with differing screennames and usernames. [R. pp. 355-406, 419-430]
- The student (K.M.) who initially reported receiving the message from T.D., later told law enforcement that he actually received the message from other students, not T.D. – a direct contradiction of the student's statement read at the hearing and the incident report. [Compare R. pp. 412 and 414 and R. pp. 362-63, 417-418]
- Another student (C.G.) who claimed to be the recipient of the message, told police that the message did not come from T.D.'s SnapChat account, which he had blocked. Instead the message came from "a new snapchat" that was created on the night of the incident. Notably, that witness also said that the message was sent on a completely different day than the day claimed by law enforcement. [Compare R. pp. 366, 435 and 417].

In its appeal to the Board, Student requested an in person appearance before the Board and an opportunity to reopen the record and cross-examine witnesses based on the previously withheld information and numerous due process violations. [R. pp. 36, 39-48, 56-57; R. p. 483]. On appeal, the Family argued (1) the procedures used by the administrators and hearing officer violated student's due process rights; (2) the Hearing Officer was overtly biased against Student; (3) the administrator and hearing officer misused student's confidential juvenile records in violation of student's statutory rights under S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-810(c), 63-19-2020(E) and 63-19-2030(E).

Jasmine Drain of Halligan Mahoney & Williams, informed the family that the Board had granted the family a personal appearance by email dated February 8, 2019. [R. p. 484].

Board policy allows for in person appearances, but does not provide any procedures for those

hearings. On the same date, the Family submitted an additional request for clarification of procedures before the Board and requested that the record be opened and that witnesses who were not disclosed or available at the hearing on December 12, 2018, be available for questioning in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 59-63-240. [R. pp. 56-57].⁴ On February 12, 2019, counsel for the administration, Vernie Williams, also of Halligan, Mahoney & Williams, advised that the Board would have to vote on procedural questions, including the Family's requests to open the record and cross-examine witnesses. [R. pp. 58-59].

Family appeared before the Board on February 12, 2019. [R. p. 194; Board Audio; R. pp. 262-308]. The day of the Board hearing, February 12, 2019, Vernie Williams, of Halligan, Mahoney & Williams, notified the Family's counsel that the Board would have to vote on whether the record would be opened to allow new evidence or testimony at the Board hearing. [R. pp. 58-59]. Unbeknownst to the Family, the administration had submitted dozens of additional documents that were not introduced in the hearing on December 12, 2018, including Mr. Williams' letter. The documents included dozens of images of statements that were not part of the hearing on December 12, 2018. [Compare R. pp. 419-430, A.R. Exhibit 18 containing twelve images *with* statement of Chishom; Hearing Audio 2, 31:00 – 31:17, R. pp. 248, line 2-15: "T.D.: Do you have screenshots of the messages? Chishom: ... I've got one, it says I want my shit Monday"]. Without notice to the Family, the "administration" was also submitting correspondence to the Board related to settlement negotiations. [See, e.g., R. pp. 58-59]. Family was not copied on any of the administration's submissions to the Board. [R. p. 87; Answer, ¶ 32]. Family did not learn of what was

⁴ The Family also objected to the two inaccurate and incomplete transcripts of the hearing on December 12, 2018, prepared by Respondent's counsel. [R. p. 56-57, objecting to transcripts at R. pp. 196-201 and R. pp. 202-211]. Respondent's counsel submitted them *ex parte*, over the Family's objection. [R. pp. 58-59]. All of Family's submissions to the Board were sent through Respondent's counsel, Halligan, Mahoney & Williams.

actually in the record before the Board until May 1, 2019. No member of the Board, including the Chairwoman or Secretary, has certified the Amended Certified Record in accordance with Rule 75, SCRCP.

During the Board Hearing on February 12, 2019, just hours after Mr. Williams had advised that the Board would have to vote on procedural questions, the Chairwoman of the Board introduced Mr. Williams as “our attorney” and referred those procedural questions directly to him:

Chairwoman: Want me to share this with you? What we typically do is we have students explain what happened we allow statements from people that he has with him. However, we have two attorneys present. We will defer to the advice of our attorney as to how to proceed. This is what we do without attorneys, so what you are asking for I would have to defer to legal advice. That’s why we have our attorney here.

V. Williams: Again, we are representing the administration . . .

[R. p. 194; Board Audio, 7:56 to 8:25; R. pp.272, lines 9-22]. Mr. Williams attempted to make a distinction between the “Board” and the “Administration;” however, Boardmembers continued to refer to Mr. Williams as “our counsel” throughout the hearing and the Chairwoman continued to ask him for legal advice.

The Board refused to allow the Family the opportunity to introduce documentary evidence to meet the allegations against Student. [Board Audio 5:24-7:56, R. pp. 270, line 1- p. 274, line 23; Board Audio, 9:11-10:10, R. pp. 273, line 20- p. 274, line 21; Board Audio 12:28-16:01, R. pp. 277, line 3 – R. pp. 280, line 16; Board Audio 16:00-22:40, R. pp. 280, line 17- p. 288, line 9; Board Audio 23:50-26:00 R. pp. 289, line 11 – page 291, line 15]. The Chairwoman and other Boardmembers stated that they would not allow any additional evidence, except direct testimony from T.D. and his grandparents. [Board Audio, 21:30-22:40; R. p. 287, lines 1-23; Board Audio 29:10-30:00; R. p. 295, line 25- p. 296, line 24.].

Family's counsel was denied the right to ask questions of Chishom or Mazyck, who were in attendance. During the hearing, the Chairwoman and other board members indicated that they would not entertain the Family's arguments about the Hearing Officer's inappropriate conduct or impartiality. [*See, e.g.* Board Audio 16:00-16:20; R. p. 280, line 17-R. p. 281, line 12; Board Audio 18:50-19:55; R. p. 283, line 19 - 285, line 1].⁵ Despite Family's request that the Board consider the audio, which is the official record under Board Policy, at least one Boardmember stated that the Board would only consider written materials. [Board Audio, 38:48-39:16; R. p. 306, lines 4-14; ("We're just seeing what we read.")].

During the hearing, Vernie Williams of Halligan, Mahoney & Williams, proposed that the Board remand the matter to a different hearing officer. [Board Audio, 19:55-20:56; R. p. 285, line 3- p. 286, line 9]

Boardmember Manning: "...[O]ne thing our legal counsel [sic] keeps bringing up is this remand. I am hearing Mr. Shadd saying typically we deny or uphold the appeal, but it sounds like we might have another thing that we've never done before but it is an option to remand it, which means that we would begin the process over . . .

V. Williams: We would ask for the third option. We essentially are proposing a third option of remand, in addition to the traditional deny or uphold . . ."

[Board Hearing: 22:00-23:55; R. p. 287, line 25 – p. 289, line 10]. Mr. Williams advised the Board that it had no authority to order student witnesses to attend the hearing on remand.

[Board Hearing, 4:00-5:25; R. p. 268, line 9 – p. 269, line 25].

The Family's position was that any remand would have to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 59-63-240, which expressly provides parents and legal guardians with the right to ask

⁵ Chairwoman: "It sounds like the hearing officer is on trial now, that's not what we are here for . . ." [Board Audio, 16:00-16:25; R. pp]. Boardmember Cheryl Caution-Parker: "The child needs to speak on his behalf what he feels. And shares his story and what he feels happened to him. How he was involved. How he was supported or not supported. That's what we pretty much base our decision on, not all this esoterical [sic] stuff. . . So, basically what I would like to do is to carry on like we always do, without all this other stuff. I have no idea, it just doesn't matter. . . ." Board Audio 19:00-19:55].

questions of all witnesses. Mr. Williams conceded that inappropriate law enforcement information was included in the record before the Hearing Officer. [Board Audio, 26:42-27:10; R. p. 292, line 11 - 25].

After the Chairwoman interrupted Student's presentation and suggested to end the hearing for the third time,⁶ Student's attorney asked if any member of the Board was familiar with the Student's Supplemental Appeal dated February 5, 2019. The Board Secretary, Christine Agostini, stated that she had read "the hearing" and that they received a "lot of documents," but did not confirm that she had read Student's appeal. No member of the Board verified that they were familiar with the Student's written Appeal, but the Chairwoman interrupted the Secretary to say that they had received it. [Board Audio, 28:52 – 30:10; R. p. 296, lines 1 - 24].⁷ The Board did not vote on any of Student's procedural requests. The board denied the appeal by a single vote that night. The Director of Administrative Services for Respondent signed a letter dated February 18, 2019, stating some of the grounds for the Board's decision.⁸ In pertinent part, the decision stated:

"[T]he Board found that there was sufficient and substantial evidence to support the expulsion recommendation without consideration of the law enforcement records to which you objected. In addition, the Board found that to the extent the student was deprived of the opportunity to review any evidence prior to the hearing, it was subsequently provided and he was given an opportunity to respond to that information on appeal."

⁶ In the middle of Student's presentation related to Chishom's conduct, the Chairwoman interrupted to say the Hearing Officer was not on trial, and circled back to the issue of witnesses, stating ". . . it sounds like you are not willing to go forward," [Board Audio: 15:00 to 16:52; R. p. 279 line – R. p. 281, line 15]; Chairwoman: [To V. Williams] "So, are we wasting our time here, are we not going to be able to talk to him. What's the bottom line." [Board Audio: 19:55 to 20:56; R. p. 285, line 3 – R. p. 286, line 21]; Chairwoman: "Yeah, Can we be done? If [T.D. is] not going to say anything then I think our purpose here is done." [Board Audio: 29:10 -29:29; R. p. 296, line 10, R. p. 296, line 24].

⁷ The Report submitted to the Board through BoardDocs *ex parte*, was last updated on February 1, 2019, prior to Student's supplemental appeal, the production of the revised transcript and several other documents included in the record. [R. p. 60].

⁸ The letter makes no findings of fact and cites "other reasons" for denying the appeal which were not stated. [R. pp. 27-28].

[R. pp. 27-28]. The Board did not address hearing officer bias, nor did the Board address its failure to promulgate juvenile records policies consistent with the mandatory provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-2020(E). On April 30, 2019, the Board subsequently voted to amend its student records policy JRA to reference the juvenile records law. [R. p. 111, fn. 3].

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