**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2019-001603  
C.A. No.: 2019-CP-40-01615**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 04 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

T.D., by and through his guardians, A.D. and J.D..... Appellants

v.

Richland County School District Two.....Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

HALLIGAN MAHONEY WILLIAMS SMITH  
FAWLEY & REAGLE, PA

Jasmine Rogers Drain, S.C. Bar No. 76156  
[jdrain@hmwlegal.com](mailto:jdrain@hmwlegal.com)

Vernie L. Williams, S.C. Bar No. 9511

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

#### IV. ARGUMENTS

##### **A. The Circuit Court Correctly Concluded There Was Substantial Evidence In The Record To Support The Board's Decision to Expel T.D. For The Remainder of the 2018-2019 School Year.**

In upholding the Board's decision to expel T.D for the remainder of the 2018-2019 school year, the Circuit Court correctly determined that there was substantial evidence to support this disciplinary action. "Substantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the Board reached or must have reached in order to justify its action." *Kizer v. Dorchester County Vocational Educ. Bd. of Trs.*, 287 S.C. 545, 548, 340 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1986). Therefore, the question before the Court is whether the Board's decision to uphold the expulsion of T.D. for committing an offense of illegally using technology to communicate a threat of a weapon or event with the intent of intimidation, threatening, or interfering with school activities is supported by substantial evidence. As explained below, the answer is yes.

As noted by the Circuit Court, the record in this matter includes a police report reflecting that a parent of a BMS student contacted law enforcement to report a troubling message her daughter had seen which was sent or posted by T.D. on Snapchat. (R. p. 412-413.) According to the police report, the message read, "*I want my shit Monday or all I know is U and him is getting shot in school... I don't give a fuck I want my shit Monday.. my pistol is coming to school with me... and if I don't get my juul I'm shooting both of y'all and a ton of other people.*" (*Id.*) There is a screen shot of this message, along with other related screenshots. (R. pp. 419-430.) As part of its investigation, the school administration interviewed students who were identified as having knowledge regarding

the threatening messages and obtained statements.<sup>9</sup> The statements are below:

**Incident Statement (student-K.M.):** T.D. sent me a message saying he wants the juul back. T.D. said he was going to find where I live and shoot up my house. T.D. said if he doesn't get the juul back by Monday he was going to come to school with a gun and shoot me. T.D. threatened me multiple times and was asking what's my address. T.D. said he was going to try and find me and shoot me. (R. p. 414.)

**Incident Statement (student-H.G.):** We were sitting on my bed and we get these text and they say: "Yo, bring me my Juul or something is coming out my boot," and we say that we don't have it then T.D. say that he knows we do. Then we sent T.D. a picture of it and he say "Yes and I better get it." Then C.G. says "or what" and T.D. says or your getting shot, simple enough. At that point me and C.G. don't believe T.D. and start messing with him and say go ahead shoot me we'll go and tell before you can. Then T.D. say that we can tell them and if they search him, he'll shoot up the school and if he doesn't get his Juul, he'll shoot up the school. The we say ok, and T.D. responds like an hour later & says I'm not scared of school or cops I'll shoot anyone. (R. p. 415.)

**Incident Statement (student-C.G.):** After T.D. was saying threatening things to K.M. he came to me and H.G. He was texting my phone. The first thing he texted me was, "where is my Juul. I didn't respond to him. A few minutes later, he text me and says "If I don't have my Juul by Monday someone is going to get shot at school. The 3rd message was "If you think im joking, I'm not! And if yall report me to the school I'm going to pull a gun out my boot and shoot everybody." While he was texting me this, I got H.G. to take a picture of the message on my phone. He took the photos of all of the things T.D. said. (R. p. 416.)

T.D. refused to provide a written statement to the administration or law enforcement. (R. p. 434.) In addition, Student C.G. emailed the following statement to law enforcement prior to being interviewed by the school administration:

**Incident Statement (student-C.G.):** Friday night I went to H.'s house we stayed at the house the whole time we were there. I had already had T.D.

---

<sup>9</sup> The language in the students' statements below is intended to cure the errors in versions contained in the minutes, summary, and/or Order.

blocked on snap chat but he decided to make another snap chat and added me on it that night. I looked at my phone and he started texting me. The first text was “ Who has my juul” I didn’t respond to that about 5 minutes later he sends a text saying if he doesn’t have his juul by Monday he is going to shoot up our school after he said this he said “I know K. took it”. And the last message he sent was “And if ya’ll make me get searched at school im pulling a gun out of my boot and shooting everyone”. While he was saying all of this I was getting H. to take pictures of it on his phone. When he finished saying this stuff I blocked him on snap chat. I never knew who had the juul or if anybody ever took it from him. (R. p. 435.)

Finally, H.G. provided the following statement to law enforcement:

Me and my friend C.G. were sitting down and then C.G. just randomly gets a message from T.D. and it said that he wants his Juul and if he didn’t get it he would shoot our houses up. Then he says nevermind I want it on Monday and if I don’t get it then I will shoot up the school. Also he said he was bringing a 9mm in his bag and if he got searched he would shoot up the school and target us. He said he doesn’t care about cops or school and he’ll just shoot anyone. (R. p. 436.)

The school administration testified during the hearing, and noted on the disciplinary referral, having been advised by the investigator that T.D. confessed to sending the messages. (R. p. 411; R. p. 194; R. p. 231, lines 2-16.) The Hearing Officer questioned T.D. regarding his alleged admission to law enforcement by reading from an investigative report from law enforcement that provided, in relevant part, “*T.D. stated he had sold his cell phone and did not have a cell phone. Then he [T.D.] stated that when he was at the emergency room last night (12/1/18) that he was using his biological mother’s phone. He was pissed off because K. and the other boys took his Juul and he did not know which one of them had it but that he wanted it back. Due to the fact that he was mad he sent the message to C. and H. made a copy of the message and it was also sent to K...*” (R. pp. 417-418.)

During the hearing, T.D. denied sending the threatening messages. (R. p. 194; R. p. 239, line 1- p. 240, line 16; R. p. 255, lines 1-15; R. pp. 203-205.) He maintained that

someone had gotten into his account and sent the message because he did not have a phone at that time, having sold it in November. (*Id.*) His grandparents, who were also in attendance at the hearing, testified T.D. had sold his phone before the incident and explained that on the evening T.D. was alleged to threaten to shoot up the school or students, he was playing with a bullet a fragment went into his finger which had to be removed. (R. p. 194; R. p. 246, lines 15-19; R p. 248, line 19- p. 249, line 9; R. p. 256, line 14- p. 259, line 8; R. p. 244, line 11- p. 245, line 9; R. pp. 206-211.) One of his grandparents reported that T.D. was mad because he had that fragment in his hand and his grandmother made him go to the emergency room. (*Id.*) According to the grandparents, T.D. and his mom were sitting in the emergency room taking pictures but T.D. never got his hands on her phone, and after she left, she took the phone with her. (*Id.*) Appellants denied T.D. had access to a pistol but admitted he had a 22 rifle, a 3030 rifle, and a shot gun which were locked in a bedroom and only used for hunting. (*Id.*)

While it cannot be disputed that a few words in the students' statements were not accurately transmitted or accurately reflected into the record, these unintentional discrepancies do not change the entire context of the statements or the record as a whole and did not serve as the sole basis for the Board' decision. Despite the discrepancies, the record as a whole still provides ample evidence of substantial evidence to support the Board's decision. Further, as noted by the Circuit Court, the rules of evidence applicable to civil actions do not strictly apply to administrative or quasi-judicial hearings. *Richards v. City of Columbia*, 227 S.C. 538, 88 S.E.2d 683 (1955) (stating that an administrative or quasi-judicial body is not governed by the ordinary legal rules of evidence); *Jacoby v. S.C. State Bd. of Naturopathic Examiners*, 227, S.C. 538, 64 S.E.2d 138 (1951) (finding that an administrative or quasi-judicial body is allowed a wide latitude of procedure and is not

restricted to strict rule of evidence adhered to in judicial court). In fact, courts have repeatedly held that strict rules of evidence do not apply in student discipline matters, and among other things, hearsay evidence is admissible. See *Newsome v. Batavia Local School District*, 842 F.2d 920 (6th Cir. 1988); *Boykins v. Board of Educ.*, 492 F.2d 697 (5th Cir. 1974); *Tasby v. Estes*, 643 F.2d 1103 (5th Cir. 1981); *Jones v. Board of Trustees*, 524 So. 2d 968, (Miss. 1988); *Racine Unified Sch. Dist. v. Thompson*, 107 Wis. 2d 657, 321 N.W.2d 334, (1982). Specifically, the Fifth Circuit Court in *Boykins* stated:

There is a seductive quality to the argument—advanced here to justify the importation of technical rules of evidence into administrative hearings conducted by laymen - that, since a free public education is a thing of great value, comparable to that of welfare sustenance or the curtailed liberty of a parolee, the safeguards applicable to these should apply to it... In this view we stand but a step away from the application of the strictissimi juris due process requirements of criminal trials to high school disciplinary processes. And if to high school, why not to elementary school? It will not do.

The requirements of due process are sufficiently flexible to accommodate themselves to various persons, interests and tribunals without reduction to a stereotype and hence to absurdity.... Basic fairness and integrity of the fact-finding process are the guiding stars. Important as they are, the rights at stake in a school disciplinary hearing may be fairly determined upon the “hearsay” evidence of school administrators charged with the duty of investigating the incidents. We decline to place upon a board of laymen the duty of observing and applying the common-law rules of evidence.

*Id.* at 924-925 (quoting *Boykins*, 492 F.2d at 701.). Also, it is important to note that where hearsay in an administrative hearing is merely cumulative to other evidence, its admission is harmless. See *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 305, 486 S.E.2d 750, 758 (1997).

Included in the record is the screenshot of the threatening social media post from T.D.'s account. (R. pp. 419-430.) *See e.g. U.S. v. Needham*, 852 F.3d 830, 837 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017) (finding social media screenshots not hearsay under FRE 801.) As noted by the Circuit Court, absent from the record is any evidence linking the threatening Snapchat post to another user other than T.D. or that someone hacked his Snapchat account. Further, T.D. testified he could not have sent the messages because he sold his phone prior to the incident, but this does not explain the fact that he could have accessed or created the account from another device. Importantly, the investigative report from law enforcement documents T.D.'s statement that he sold the phone and his admission to using his mother's phone to send the threatening message, which the Circuit Court viewed as a prior inconsistent statement or admission by a party opponent. SCRE Rule 801. This admission was then reported to school officials who noted it in their disciplinary referral. (R. p. 411.) The Circuit Court also noted law enforcement records would be admissible as a hearsay exception. SCRE Rule 803. In light of the evidence, giving it its due weight and creditability, the Circuit Court correctly concluded there was substantial evidence in the record to support the Board's decision. To conclude otherwise would mean that fellow students, law enforcement officials and school officials all fabricated testimony and/or documents to frame T.D. for an offense he did not commit. Such a sinister conspiracy theory is outlandish and is not supported by the evidence.

Appellants argue that the Circuit Court erred in applying a substantial evidence review in reviewing this matter. However, as noted in the lower Circuit Court's order, the substantial evidence review was not applied to all issues raised in the appeal, particularly those concerning questions of law or statutory interpretation. Accordingly, the lower

court's determination that there was substantial evidence in the record to support the Board's decision should be affirmed.

**B. The Circuit Court Correctly Concluded T.D. Was Afforded Due Process Based On Applicable Statutory And Case Law.**

In upholding the Board's expulsion of T.D., the Circuit Court correctly concluded that T.D. was afforded due process. S. C. Code § 59-63-240 outlines the procedures for student expulsion and provides, in relevant part, as follows:

...If procedures for expulsion are initiated, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil shall be notified in writing of the time and the place of a hearing either before the board or a person or committee designated by the board. At the hearing the parents or legal guardian shall have the right to legal counsel and to all other regular legal rights including the right to question all witnesses. If the hearing is held by any authority other than the board of trustees, the right to appeal the decision to the board is reserved to either party...

The United States Supreme Court first addressed what process is due in the school discipline context in *Goss v. Lopez*, 419 U.S. 565, 95 S.Ct. 729 (1975). Although *Goss* specifically limited its holding to the short term suspension, not exceeding 10 days, courts have stated that it “nevertheless establish[ed] the minimum requirements for long-term expulsions as well.” *Goss*, 419 U.S. at 584, 95 S.Ct. 729. Specifically, *Goss* requires only that a student be given (1) notice of the charges against him, (2) an explanation of the evidence, and (3) an opportunity to present his side of the story. *Goss*, 419 U.S. at 581, 95 S.Ct. 729.

Although the South Carolina Supreme Court has not expressly articulated a standard for minimal due process in a student expulsion case, in *Stinney v. Sumter School District 17*, the court noted an expulsion is a more serious disciplinary action than is suspension, and therefore, the procedures and protections given to the accused student should be greater than the informal, immediate hearing that was authorized in *Goss*. *Stinney*, 391 S.C. 547, 551-552 (2011). Nonetheless, without deciding the constitutional

minimum that must be given in these circumstances, the South Carolina Supreme Court has found those procedures and protections outlined in S.C. Code Ann § 59–63–240 to be constitutionally sufficient. (*Id.*)

In reviewing the evidence presented before the Circuit Court, it is clear that T.D. not only received the minimal due process guaranteed to him under *Goss* but also the statutory procedural rights set under state law.

**1. The Record Supports T.D. Was Afforded Due Process.**

Prior to the evidentiary hearing before the Hearing Officer, Appellants received written notice of the violation that T.D. was accused of committing, and school officials also discussed the allegations with the family. (R. p. 35; R. p. 194; R. p. 215, line 1- p. 229, line 13.) During the hearing, Appellants had the opportunity to question the witnesses present, the administration, and to present a defense. (R. p. 194; R. pp. 217-260.) All three Appellants, in addition to another relative, provided testimony during the hearing. Appellants could have presented more witnesses to testify or offered evidence of their own, but they did not. As the *Stinney* Court noted, the fact that a student does not take advantage of statutory rights does not create a procedural due process violation. *Stinney*, 391 S.C. 547, 551-552 (2011).

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